

JNCC Report 729

The 'Targeting Revisits Map' and evaluation of its impact on recorder behaviour

Michael J.O. Pocock, Martin C. Harvey and Colin A. Harrower

February 2023

© JNCC, Peterborough 2023

ISSN 0963 8091

JNCC's report series serves as a record of the work undertaken or commissioned by JNCC. The series also helps us to share, and promote the use of, our work and to develop future collaborations.

For further information on JNCC's report series please contact:

Joint Nature Conservation Committee Quay House, 2 East Station Road, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8YY <u>https://jncc.gov.uk/</u> <u>Communications@jncc.gov.uk</u>

This report should be cited as:

Pocock, M.J.O.¹, Harvey, M.C.¹ & Harrower, C.A.¹. (2023) The 'Targeting Revisits Map' and evaluation of its impact on recorder behaviour. *JNCC Report 729*. JNCC, Peterborough, ISSN 0963-8091. https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/19f32565-f628-409e-b732-e72a9ae6df28

This report was produced for JNCC by the UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology under the Terrestrial Surveillance Development & Analysis (TSDA) Project.

Author affiliation:

¹ UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Wallingford, UK

Acknowledgments:

We are grateful for the support of the organisers of the four recording schemes (Martin Harvey, Bjorn Beckman, Pete Boardman and Chris Foster). Martin Harvey was involved with the inception of the project, providing a link to schemes, and evaluating the tool from the perspective of a recording scheme organiser. He contributed to edits to the report but was not directly involved in the interpretation of the results from the scheme organisers.

Evidence Quality Assurance:

This report is compliant with JNCC's Evidence Quality Assurance Policy https://jncc.gov.uk/about-jncc/corporate-information/evidence-quality-assurance/

The views and recommendations presented in this report do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of JNCC.

Summary

Opportunistic, also called unstructured, biological recording provides valuable data for mapping species distributions and trend analysis. However, these data are spatially unevenly distributed and so it is valuable to consider targeted recording in which people make records at times and places that optimally add value to the overall dataset.

Here we developed an interactive map-based tool to show recorders where records would be particularly valuable. These Targeting Revisits Maps were developed for Orthoptera, craneflies, ground beetles and soldierflies in 2020 and 2021. For the target grid squares, we selected squares that had been visited during one year in the past, because when these squares were revisited (i.e. records from two or more years) they would be included in datasets for occupancy trend modelling.

We evaluated the impact of the Targeting Revisits Maps during this trial by assessing patterns in recording and qualitative feedback from recorders and recording scheme organisers.

In this trial the promotion of the Targeting Revisits Maps was relatively limited but feedback from recorders (n = 20) was very positive. Changes in the patterns of recording was consistent with the Targeting Revisits Maps having an effect but was not conclusive. Recording scheme organisers were positive about the Maps and the concept of targeted recording, but they raised concerns about whether the definition of the target was optimal and whether there could be unintended effects on recorders' behaviour.

Overall, we recommend that the Targeting Revisits Maps continue to be developed, promoted and evaluated prior to their potential wider use for other taxa.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1			
2	Met	hods	3			
	2.1	Development of the Targeting Revisits Map	3			
	2.2	Evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Map	6			
3	Met	hods and Results	6			
	3.1	Evaluation based on change in status of squares	6			
	3.2	Visits to the Targeting Revisits Tool webpage	8			
	3.3	Feedback from participants	8			
	3.4	Feedback from scheme organisers	11			
4 Discussion						
	4.1	Reflection on the evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Maps	12			
	4.2	Next steps for the Targeting Revisits Maps	13			
5	Ref	erences	15			
A	Appendix 1					
	A1.1	Evaluation questions for recorders	18			
	A1.2	Evaluation questions for recording scheme organisers	19			

JNCC Report No. 729

1 Introduction

The evidence for the importance of volunteer involvement in biodiversity monitoring ('citizen science') is unequivocal: we would know much less about biodiversity distribution, abundance and change without the contribution of volunteers. For instance, volunteers contributed data supporting a large amount of evidence in the UK's State of Nature report (Hayhow *et al.* 2019) and the Defra Biodiversity Headline Indicators in the UK (Roy *et al.* 2012). For the wealth of unstructured data, occupancy models allowed the production of trends for several thousand species in the UK (Outhwaite *et al.* 2019) for the assessment of drivers of biodiversity change in the UK (Hayhow *et al.* 2019; Outhwaite *et al.* 2020).

There are different ways in which people can undertake recording and so contribute to biodiversity citizen science (Table 1; Kelling et al. 2019; Pocock et al. 2015, 2017). Structured sampling is an approach to gain high-quality records through carefully designed sampling strategies, both in terms of when and where people go but also the protocol through which they record. This typically requires a high level of commitment and so only a portion of the number of potential recorders take part. In contrast, unstructured recording, also called opportunistic recording, is a way of harnessing the value of records made by the many people who record nature in their spare time as and when they choose. It requires careful statistical analysis to account for biases in the data (Isaac et al. 2014). Approaches such as occupancy modelling are valuable for analysing these occurrence data (Altwegg & Nichols 2019; Guillera-Arroita et al. 2014), although they may not be suitable for all unstructured data (Pescott et al. 2019). Semi-structured sampling covers a wide range of approaches that seek to control for different aspects of recording effort that are unaccounted for in unstructured recording, and so make the data more valuable for analysis (Kelling et al. 2019). This can be done by providing a simple protocol for people to follow (e.g. timed counts) or by allowing people to document their recording effort (e.g. using a smartphone app to record distance travelled). Semi-structured sampling is valuable, but it does not solve the problem that recording tends to be spatially biased and clustered in its distribution (Boakes et al. 2016; Geldmann et al. 2016). Here we describe and evaluate an approach that we have developed for spatially targeted recording to seek to address this limitation, while also providing the flexibility desired by many recorders.

Type of sampling	Protocol	Targeted spatial coverage	Description	Examples
Structured	Yes	Yes	People follow a protocol, or submit measures of recording effort, at times and places dictated by project organisers	Breeding Bird Survey; UK Butterfly Monitoring Scheme
Semi- structured	Yes	No	People follow a protocol, or submit measures of recording effort, at times and places of their choosing	Flower-Insect Timed Counts in the UK Pollinator Monitoring Scheme; Big Butterfly Count; SeaWatch Foundation
Unstructured (also called opportunistic or haphazard)	No	No	People make records at times and places of their choosing without following a set protocol	Biological recording through National Schemes and Societies supported by the BRC
Spatially targeted (or adaptive)	No	Yes	People make records at times and places that optimally add value to the overall dataset	Gap-filling for local or national species atlases (e.g. <u>Breeding</u> <u>Bird Atlas;</u> <u>Targeting Revisits</u> <u>Map;</u> <u>DECIDE</u>)

 Table 1. Different approaches to undertaking biodiversity sampling with citizen science.

The principle of adaptive sampling has been around for a long time in biodiversity monitoring (Lindenmayer & Likens, 2009). It recognises that allocating recording effort conditional on previous records (in particular previous detections) can increase the performance of estimators from modelling (Mackenzie & Royle 2005; Pacifici *et al.* 2016; Thompson 2004), so augmenting the survey design based on the latest information can help to optimally achieve a particular target (e.g. the maximal reduction in uncertainty for a parameter estimate). Typically adaptive sampling has been considered for designing and updating sampling undertaken by professional, contracted researchers, although recently a few examples exist of it being considered for biodiversity monitoring by volunteers (i.e. for citizen science (Callaghan, Poore *et al.* 2019; Callaghan, Rowley *et al.* 2019; Xue *et al.* 2016)). This idea has been developed further with the concept of 'digital twins' in environmental science, in which monitoring is designed to be responsive to current circumstances of the model (e.g. current uncertainty in model outputs (Blair 2021)).

When applying the concept of adaptive sampling to citizen science, one major challenge is providing tools to influence the decisions in where people choose to record. This is because, as volunteers, they are not obliged to follow an adaptive sampling design, and their recording choices are likely to be affected by home location, site access, or their own recording preferences.

Unstructured, or opportunistic, recording in the UK is organised through National Recording Schemes and Societies covering more than 80 taxonomic groups (Pocock *et al.* 2017). These schemes collate and verify records of where different species have been recorded.

Occupancy modelling uses information from biological records to infer non-detections and estimate probability of detection; this is a valuable way to make use of the wealth of these opportunistic records (Guillera-Arroita 2017; Outhwaite *et al.* 2020). From these models annual occupancy rates, and hence trends, across the set of visited sites can be estimated (Outhwaite *et al.* 2018). In the specific occupancy models currently used by the UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (Outhwaite *et al.* 2018), records are only included in the analysis if they are from sites (i.e. 1 km grid squares) that have been visited in more than one year. This means that a substantial number of records (typically 20–60% of the total, depending on the taxonomic group) are discarded from the dataset prior to analysis (Pocock *et al.* 2019).

Adaptive sampling design depends on "maximizing a defined utility function that quantifies the usefulness of a particular design in estimating some value of interest related to the monitoring objective being considered" (Kang *et al.* 2016). This utility function can be more, or less, complex. The particular constraint that our occupancy models only use data from sites visited in more than one year means that if sites that have been visited in only one year in the past are revisited, then both the current and the historical records can be included in the dataset for analysis. The number of sites visited in more than one year therefore provides a simple utility function for adaptive sampling in this citizen science. The impact of this would require further investigation: more records are assumed to be better to produce more accurate and/or precise trends, although we note that this is not necessarily the case, especially if less well-recorded squares are a biased sample of the landscape. More species with more accurate and precise trends would support better assessment of biodiversity and evaluation of the impact of interventions to support biodiversity (Burns *et al.* 2016).

Here we developed an interactive map-based tool: the Targeting Revisits Map. We developed these interactive maps to inform recorders how to improve the information content of unstructured biodiversity datasets, based on increasing the number of sites (i.e. 1 km grid squares) with visits in more than one year by re-recording species at sites that had only been visited in one year in the past (since 1990). We constructed the maps for four different taxonomic groups in 2020 and 2021 and assessed the impact of the maps in this trial using a mixed methods approach, with patterns in recording and qualitative feedback from recorders and recording scheme organisers.

2 Methods

2.1 Development of the Targeting Revisits Map

The aim of the Targeting Revisits Map was to provide map-based information to support recorders' decisions on where to record, be updated in real time based on records submitted to iRecord (and its linked websites and apps), and provide a strong incentive, via colour changes, to indicate the changing status of squares. The intended impact was for recorders to incentivise visits to less well-visited squares. It was developed using R Shiny (Chang *et al.* 2021).

Most biological recording schemes in the UK are defined by taxonomic groups (Pocock *et al.* 2015). We developed a short list of biological recording schemes with which to trial the Targeting Revisits Map by selecting those that actively promoted the use of iRecord to recorders, have organisers who were considered likely to support and promote new recording approaches, and where the taxa have good and reasonably accessible identification guides. For this trial, we also focused on recording schemes with a moderate number of recorders (estimated to be one to several hundred recorders annually) because we believed that this was where we would have greatest impact; too few recorders and there

was less chance to influence an individual, too many recorders and the impact on the data would have been relatively small.

From initial conversations with several schemes, we selected to work with the recording schemes for Orthoptera (termed "grasshoppers" in the Targeting Revisits Map, although also including bushcrickets and crickets: Orthoptera), soldierflies (Diptera: Stratiomyidae), craneflies (Diptera: Tipuloidea & Ptychopteridae) and ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae). We developed the Targeting Revisits Map for Orthoptera in 2020 and developed it for the three other recording schemes in 2021. We attempted to develop a Targeting Revisits Map for ladybirds (Coleoptera: Coccinelidae) in 2021, but our current solution with R Shiny did not work for this much larger dataset, although it could undoubtedly be made to work with technical developments in the future.

The Targeting Revisits Map used species records from the recording scheme since 1990 that had been verified and incorporated into the recording scheme datasets. These squares were plotted on a 1 km grid and coloured according to their status (Figure 1; Table 2). The colours were selected from the 'PiYG' colour-blind friendly colour ramp (Harrower & Brewer, 2003) and were selected to show the previous year's history and need for this year (Table 2; Figure 2). Colours were selected so that there was a striking colour change between 'targets for revisits' and 'successful revisits'. Clicking on a square created a pop-up box giving details of the species that had been recorded there, the number of past visits, the number of years in which visits had been made (Figure 1).



Figure 1. A snapshot of the Targeting Revisits Map for grasshoppers for south Wales showing the information that is available in the pop-up box accessed by clicking on a grid square.

Table 2. Description of the status of the 1 km squares in the Targeting Revisits Map, with a summary of the colours used to indicate status.

Status	Description	Colour of 1 km square on tool
Well-recorded	Sites that already have records of species in the taxonomic group from multiple years – these are already included in our trend analysis but, of course, records from these sites continue to be valuable.	Dark green
Successful revisits	Sites that used to only have records of species in the taxonomic group from a single year, but since this year have visits from multiple years and will now be included in our trend analysis.	Light green
Targets for revisits	Sites that have records of species in the taxonomic group from only one year in the past – if these sites are revisited then they can be included in our trend analysis.	Dark pink
New in that year	Sites that, for the first time, have records of species in the taxonomic group from this year. Next year these will become targets for revisits.	Light pink
Unrecorded	Sites that, so far, do not have any records of species in the taxonomic group in our database.	No colour



Figure 2. The transitions between the different states for grid squares within a year and between years, showing the outcomes for squares that are visited or not visited.

A simple message was given to recorders on the website: *"you can increase the amount of data for analysis by revisiting squares that have records from only one year in the past – and so to turn the bright pink 'targets for revisit' to dark green, 'well recorded' squares"*. Once per

day, the tool updated its database of records from records submitted to iRecord. These recent records were unverified (i.e. had not been reviewed by experts), but we decided that it was best to provide real-time feedback on the submitted records; there was often a substantial delay (days to months) between making a record and having it verified by an expert in iRecord, but good feedback supports volunteer motivation (Geoghegan *et al.* 2016).

The grasshoppers Targeting Revisits Map was launched on 21 August 2020. On 30 July 2021 the Targeting Revisits Maps for soldierflies, craneflies and ground beetles were launched, and that for grasshoppers was refreshed with the verified records from 2020. In both years they were promoted via a <u>news item</u> on the Biological Records Centre website (updated in 2021) and links in social media, especially via Twitter (using the hashtag #targetingrevisits for promotion). Unfortunately, the Maps were launched and promoted later in the season in 2021 than intended, so they were only available after the flight period of many soldierflies.

2.2 Evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Map

We conducted evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Map using a mixed methods approach, combining qualitative and quantitative sources of information. For quantitative assessment, we assessed the change in the total number of squares in the dataset, and the number of squares added, by their status. We also assessed the proportion of squares that changed status, in particular the proportion of newly visited squares that were successful revisits, compared to those already well-visited and those that were newly visited. We embedded a Google Analytics tracker in the Targeting Revisits Maps for Grasshoppers because it allowed us to monitor the number of people who accessed the webpage. For the qualitative assessment, we invited users of the Targeting Revisits Map to complete a feedback form giving their opinion of the tool (Appendix A1.1), and separately we invited the organisers of the four recording schemes to respond to four evaluation questions (Appendix A1.2).

3 Methods and Results

3.1 Evaluation based on change in status of squares

The total number of grid squares with records increased for all taxa across the four years from 2018 to 2021 (Figure 3a). The number of grid squares with records added that year also increased across the four years (Figure 3b). The greatest increases were after the introduction of the Targeting Revisits Maps. This reflects the overall increase in recording over time, as facilitated by ease of access to smartphone apps and web-based recording tools such as iRecord.

The increase in records added from visits in past years was striking (grey bars in Figure 3b); this was due to recorders sharing records made in previous years with the National Recording Schemes. Anecdotally, we believe that this was, at least partly, due to people submitting records during the COVID-19 restriction on use of leisure time. However, we also know of instances where the increasing visibility of the records on the Targeting Revisits Maps (and hence recording gaps) led recorders to pass existing records on to the National Recording Schemes. The increasing visibility of records supported data mobilisation.



Figure 3. The overall increase in (a) the number of squares with records and (b) the number of grid squares added across the years, for grasshoppers, craneflies, ground beetles and soldierflies. The dotted line shows when the Targeting Revisits Map was introduced. (* The colour indicates the status at the end of the year except for 'added from previous years': these records were retrospectively added to the database. They could have had any status but are aggregated for clarity.)

The number of successful revisits did increase over time, particularly after the introduction of the Targeting Revisits Maps (Figure 3b), but this is better assessed as changes in the proportion of squares visited (Figure 4), rather than the overall number of squares, to account for the increasing number of records throughout the period. Evaluating the importance of changes in these proportions is challenging because they are interlinked (if proportions of two classes go up, the third must go down). Also, the opportunity for change in status changes over time because, in particular, the total number of targets for revisits increases over time (Figure 3a).

Despite this, we can see that the proportion of visits that were successful revisits was highest, for all taxa, during the years in which the Targeting Revisits Map was available, although the size of the difference was small (Figure 4b). The proportion of visits that were to newly visited, and already well-recorded squares, did not show a consistent effect (Figure 4a and c). The proportion of targets that were successfully revisited were also highest in the years in which the Targeting Revisits Map was available (3.4–5.2%), compared to previous years (1.7–3.0%; Figure 4d). Therefore, these results support the hypothesis that the Targeting Revisits Maps had a demonstrable impact on patterns of recording.



Figure 4. Proportion of squares visited that year according to the status at the end of the year, for grasshoppers, craneflies, ground beetles and soldierflies. Years in which the Targeting Revisits Map was available for the taxa are coloured.

3.2 Visits to the Targeting Revisits Tool webpage

The Targeting Revisits Map for grasshoppers has had 1537 unique page views since its launch (17 August 2020 to 17 January 2022). The peaks from midsummer followed the launch/re-launch of the Targeting Revisits Map, but also coincided with the peak recording season for Orthoptera in late summer (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Numbers of page views of the Targeting Revisits Map for grasshoppers from its launch on 17 August 2020.

3.3 Feedback from participants

We asked a set of evaluation questions in an optional feedback survey. Users of the Maps were invited to participate in the feedback survey via a link on the Map webpage and a Biological Records Centre blogpost. By February 2022 we had received 20 responses to the survey.

Most respondents to the survey submitted records via iRecord frequently (78%), and the remainder submit records occasionally. Most submit a few records each year of the target

taxa (65%), with some submitting many per year (25%) and the remainder only rarely. Most respondents thought that the information in the Targeting Revisits Map was very likely to influence their recording and would influence 'some' rather than 'a lot' of their recording activity (Figure 6). The messaging around the Targeting Revisits Map was focussed on encouraging people to revisit squares that had only been visited in one previous year, and indeed most respondents were very motivated to visit these squares (Figure 7a). Their response to visiting well-recorded squares was more mixed, although most people had some motivation to visit these squares (Figure 7b), possibly because they were local, or because this provided easily accessible information on the species being present, and possibly because they recognised the value of further revisits (e.g. to detect change). Respondents were very or somewhat motivated to visit blank squares (Figure 7c). The Targeting Revisits Map differs from several similar tools (e.g. the NBN Atlas) in that the lack of records are for the whole taxonomic group and not for an individual species, and so it provided a clear visual indication of places lacking records, and so where 'gap filling' was beneficial.



Figure 6. The number of people responding about how likely and how much the Targeting Revisits Map was thought to influence future recording behaviour.



Figure 7. How the information in the Targeting Revisits Map would influence respondents' motivation to visit and submit records from: (a) (top) targets for revisits (pink on the map); (b) (middle) well-recorded squares (green on the map); and (c) (bottom) unrecorded squares (blank on the map).

Respondents provided open responses to the question: "why you think the Targeting Revisits Map is, or is not, useful". They described how the Targeting Revisits Maps: (a) help recording to be more useful; and (b) encourage more recording; by (c) providing good feedback to recorders; and they described (d) future opportunities and challenges. One respondent summed up the impact of the Targeting Revisits Map by explaining that "being able to see how impactful my recording can be, and directing me to where recording could have the greatest impact, is immensely powerful and motivating... I'm definitely more likely to make an active effort to record species where I can see the outputs like this coming from the data I've submitted". Another recorder said: "I can see that on 3 maps... I have already helped to turn the square... from pink to pale green this year, and it's great to think that any additional records I make here will strengthen the BRC data. It also makes me realise that there are many local sites that I could visit to help fill in the gaps... I have tended to assume that my area is very well covered, but I can see from that maps that isn't always the case and it makes me feel that my small contribution is valuable."

- a. Helping recording to be more useful. Many people described how it enabled their recording to be useful: "It shows where it would be most useful to target recording efforts" and that it "helps recorders... target their efforts on under-recorded areas rather than the popular nature reserves...". This was because "fundamentally, we want our recording to be useful".
- **b.** Encouraging more recording. The responses also indicated that the Targeting Revisits Map does not simply support targeted recording but would support more recording: "Orthoptera are not my usual 'target' taxa but maps like this will remind and encourage me to include them in my site lists. Also, if I spotted a square close to me or convenient to visit during fieldwork, I would be more likely make an effort to visit and collect records." The comments indicated that the Targeting Revisits Maps support recording for less frequently recorded taxa: "Shows me the value of recording species which I might not think are "worth" recording, by showing how underrecorded most species/areas are. Gives me a target to fill in gaps in the map/missing species." The potential to support more recording appears to be particularly the case for taxonomic groups that are relatively accessible for recording by general naturalists (i.e. with species are not too difficult to sample or identify, and with good identification materials), but are currently not very well recorded. Of course, this also depends upon having verifiers able to support data flow, and hence maintain recorder motivation (Baker et al. 2021). One person noted that it gives them "a reason to record these groups, which are not insects I would necessarily be looking out for... learning a few new species to ID would be a motivator for me."
- c. Provided good feedback. The ease with which the summary information is accessed appeared to be important to respondents: "Quick and easy to see what has been recorded previously", "really helpful to see which species are recorded, even in well-recorded squares", "The tool is very useful as it appears to be updated daily so you can see which squares need coverage". The fact that the change in status was clearly communication was also important: "Very motivational for targeted recording, particularly the immediate feedback loop of the colour change." The ease of visualisation also revealed to one local recording organisation that their data were not assimilated with the national recording scheme, and so the Targeting Revisits Map prompted them to share data. As one person noted *"it gives something back to recorders so thank you"*, which suggests that the existing feedback to recorders about the value of their data is, perhaps, not as good as it could be.
- **d**. **Future opportunities and challenges.** Respondents raised several opportunities and challenges for the future of the Targeting Revisits Maps. They said that it would be valuable to integrate it with iRecord (especially *"if it 'popped-up' after entering the*

record"), and to get the 1 km squares and their status as a downloadable list, rather than making it solely map-based. Some of the suggestions were for the Targeting Revisits Maps to perform more like the National Biodiversity Network Atlas (*"being able to... quickly show distributions (ideally with a year range option) for any chosen species"*). If developed for other taxa, then for some *"e.g. Sawflies there would be so many unrecorded squares it would be difficult to know where to start"* indicating that it could be valuable to have additional targets to help recorders prioritise their recording. The approach of targeting based on optimally improving spatial models is an approach that is being tested in the current <u>DECIDE</u> project.

3.4 Feedback from scheme organisers

The national recording scheme organisers had lightly promoted the Targeting Revisits Map via social media (especially Twitter), and a few talks. Overall, they thought that the concept of targeting was valuable: "do we just want more records from as many places as possible, or is a targeted approach needed to avoid wasted effort?". They felt that the easily accessible map-based overview was very beneficial, and it was valuable that the Maps made the direct link between the data and its use in trend analysis, thus closing the link between an individual's recording and the value of their records. The Targeting Revisits Maps provide a motivation to recorders that is different to the current information. Any support to encourage recording, whether revisits or gap-filling, is valuable for smaller recording schemes with few recorders and for which "every record is important".

The recording scheme organisers did not yet have evidence on who was most likely to be influenced by the Targeting Revisits Map but felt that it would appeal to some more than others. It could appeal to those with a more competitive sense of recording and intermediate recorders who have capacity to explore and record in new areas local to them.

One organiser said that "revisiting squares with a few old records is also likely to generate new location data for species not recorded on the previous visit". However, a couple of the organisers raised concerns about the target used in the Targeting Revisits Maps. The Maps had a clear, single target (encouraging people to record in squares that had records from only one year in the past) and a strong visual indicator of success ("turning pink squares green"), but this is contingent on one aspect of one type of analysis (the occupancy modelling used in the Biological Records Centre). It therefore assumes that the occupancy models and their outputs are suitable for these data, although this was queried by one organiser. Many of the targets for revisits were in species-poor habitats, and arguably it would be better to encourage revisits to squares that were known (or predicted) to be more species-rich. Although records of common species are important, two organisers suggested that asking people to look for species in species-poor squares would "not be the best use of recorders' time" because it would simply result in more records of ubiquitous species rather than the rarer habitat specialists. However, it was also acknowledged that this could also raise awareness about these species amongst people who have not previously recorded them, and so suggests the opportunity to personalise tools such as this, based on recording behaviour of the recorder viewing them (e.g. seeing a personalised set of recommendations once logged into iRecord). Going further, there was some concern that the Targeting Revisits Maps could unhelpfully change people's recording behaviour. After all, a single record of a common species in a grid square is enough (with the current Maps) to change it from a target for revisits to well-recorded, so people could simply travel around 'ticking off' a single species in lots of squares or devote excessive recording effort until they make a single record. One organiser knew of a recorder who was frustrated that their visit to a target square did not result in any records, so the square remained pink, although this reflects a larger question of the challenge of reporting zeroes when recording effort is not controlled or reported. One way to responding to these concerns would be to change the criteria for

defining a 'target for revisits', and so it would be valuable to engage further with the schemes to discuss this.

The scheme organisers supported the continuation of the Targeting Revisits Maps and believed that it would generate more interest over time. The Targeting Revisits Maps could provide a live summary of how many squares change status through the year. It could also be integrated with iRecord, so recorders can be given immediate feedback how their visit compares with older records. It would be good to let recorders know how this has contributed to improvements in trend analysis and, ultimately, conservation outcomes. Two of the scheme organisers would welcome further engagement about how the targets could be defined to be more appropriate (e.g. weighting towards species-rich squares or a better definition of what counts as a successful revisit). However, even if we adapted the way that targets were defined in response to this feedback, it would be important to follow the endorsement that *"targeting needs to be kept simple and clearly explained (which it [currently] is)"*.

4 Discussion

4.1 Reflection on the evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Maps

Here we developed a new tool that identified spatial targets for biological recording through the presentation of a clear, easily accessible map that was updated in real time, had a simple definition of targets and provided contextual information about past records. Qualitative feedback from volunteer recorders indicated that the Targeting Revisits Maps were positively received and likely to influence their future recording and recording scheme organisers were positive that this tool would encourage more, and more targeted, recording.

There is a long history of providing biological recorders with feedback about where records are valuable, but in our experience this has been almost entirely focussed on gap-filling. This can be simple messaging (e.g. recording in places with no records such as the "Gaps in the Maps" project (Northamptonshire Biodiversity Records Centre 2021)) or more complex, as in the British Trust for Ornithology's web-based tool to guide gap-filling based on the proportion of species present but not confirmed to be breeding (British Trust for Ornithology, n.d.). However, they rarely have such a direct, timely link to the data input as our Targeting Revisits Maps, and we focused on a specific analysis-led need (increasing the number of sites with records made from more than one year for use in occupancy modelling).

The response from the volunteer recorders was encouraging about the impact of the tool, even though recorders will have a wide range of motivations for taking part (West *et al.* 2021). Most people submitted records only occasionally for the taxon of interest, so they did not represent the most active recorders, but they were strongly motivated to change their recording behaviour and visit both targets for revisits and unrecorded grid squares. In the future it would be valuable to explore whether the keenest recorders or less active recorders are the optimal targets for the Targeting Revisits Maps, both in terms of their motivations and flexibility to be influenced, and in terms of the overall impact on the outputs of analysis of the data. Questions like this have been explored in other citizen science projects (Rallapalli *et al.* 2015). This shows that there is great potential in using simple tools to support people's recording behaviour, and the value of providing clear, persuasive visual information (Pandey *et al.* 2014). In this case, it was clear that the simple and honest messages in the Targeting Revisits Maps aligned closely with people's interest in spending their time for biological recording well. Their responses also suggested that Targeting Revisits Maps encourages more recording overall, as well as recording in under-recorded places.

As we anticipated, quantitative evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Maps was challenging because any effect was likely to be small against the variability and increase in current recording. It was also affected by the dramatic effects of COVID-19 lockdowns on recording behaviour (e.g. Basile *et al.* 2021), and limitations on local and international travel could have influenced recording behaviour throughout 2020 and 2021, even once lockdown restrictions had been relaxed. However, the current evidence supported the hypothesis that the Targeting Revisits Maps positively influenced the dataset. We anticipate that another year's data (especially providing the Targeting Revisits Maps from the start of the recording season) and comparison with data from recording schemes without the Targeting Revisits Maps will provide a stronger BACI (before, after, control, intervention) design for evaluation.

One of the major challenges with targeted recording is the definition of the target. Biological recording data has multiple uses, from producing atlases (and gap-filling) to spatial modelling and trend analysis (Powney & Isaac 2015). Different users (including recording scheme organisers, and recorders themselves) will have different priorities at different times. The feedback from recording scheme organisers suggests that while the targets in the Targeting Revisits Maps could be adapted, the simplicity, clarity of the target of success, and its direct link to a call to action is one of the reasons for the positive feedback from volunteer recorders. It would also be valuable to use simulations to test the impact of these different approaches to targeting on the precision and accuracy of the trends. This is ultimately the way of assessing how changes in recording would lead to improved trends and, hence, improved management for biodiversity.

There was some concern that the Targeting Revisits Maps could cause unintended biases in the data. It will be valuable to consider ways of testing this, for example, comparison in the number of species per visit in squares with different statuses, to understand the risk posed by these concerns.

4.2 Next steps for the Targeting Revisits Maps

Overall, the Targeting Revisits Maps demonstrate the effectiveness of a simple visual tool that provides real-time feedback to biological recorders.

Several activities will be valuable for further work in 2022:

- Promote the Maps more strongly. Publicity around the Targeting Revisits Maps has been relatively limited so far. Developing the Maps early in 2022 to allow them to be advertised to, and by, the relevant recording schemes will be important to further test their uptake by recorders. Promotion should be focussed on recorders, so including recording scheme newsletters and journals, as well as a major investment in social media.
- Gather feedback from more recorders and gather stronger quantitative evidence of the impact that this tool is having on the data. This will need to include comparison with the counterfactual situation of recording schemes that are similar but do not have Targeting Revisits Maps in place.
- Test for potential biases in the data collected in response to the Targeting Revisits Maps. For instance, whether species lists are shorter than expected in sites visited in response to the Targeting Revisits Maps. It may be possible to assess whether bias is present or not by comparing the species composition of sites with different recording statuses, and/or by asking an additional question in the feedback survey.
- Explore different definitions of the target. Given the different ways in which it would/could define the 'targets for revisits', it would be important to engage with the recording schemes involved in this trial about the best, simple metrics to use to target

people's recording that meets the needs or recording scheme organisers, as well as the needs of those who undertake occupancy modelling. In doing this, the criterion for a 'target' could be refined and could include habitat characteristics, although it will be vital to keep the messaging and visual communication simple.

- More schemes could be engaged in the future, so it would be valuable to identify potential schemes, based on the number of recorders, availability of identification guides and verifiers, and suitability of taxa to benefit from occupancy modelling.
- Engage Natural History Societies. They organise regular field meetings throughout the year and could use the Targeting Revisits Maps to plan where to go. Naturalists may submit records to the relevant national recording schemes but frequently organise their activities as part of a local natural history society.
- Develop a technical solution that works efficiently for high volume datasets (e.g. the ladybird recording scheme dataset).
- Explore the impacts of the Targeting Revisits Maps and related spatial targeting approaches, such as <u>DECIDE</u>, on other areas of work relevant to the TSDA partnership (e.g. assessing biodiversity interventions, providing wider spatial and taxonomic coverage of recording, linking with habitat recording).
- Investigate closer integration with tools such as iRecord and NBN Atlas.
- Engage verifiers about whether prioritising records for verification (e.g. based on their status in the Targeting Revisits Map) would be useful and how it could be implemented.
- Investigate market segmentation for tools such as the Targeting Revisits Maps. For instance, recorders who have a lot of species expertise could be directed more towards some squares (e.g. species-rich squares), whereas those who have less expertise could be directed to squares that are expected to be less species-rich, but for which records would still be valuable.

5 References

Altwegg, R. & Nichols, J.D. (2019). Occupancy models for citizen-science data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 10(1), 8–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13090</u>

Guillera-Arroita, G., Lahoz-Monfort, J.J., MacKenzie, D.I., Wintle, B.A. & McCarthy, M.A. (2014). Ignoring Imperfect Detection in Biological Surveys Is Dangerous: A Response to 'Fitting and Interpreting Occupancy Models'. PLOS ONE, 9(7), e99571. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099571

Baker, E., Drury, J.P., Judge, J., Roy, D.B., Smith, G.C. & Stephens, P.A., 2021. The Verification of Ecological Citizen Science Data: Current Approaches and Future Possibilities. *Citizen Science: Theory and Practice*, **6**(1), p.12. doi: <u>http://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.351</u>

Basile, M., Russo, L.F., Russo, V.G., Senese, A. & Bernardo, N. (2021) Birds seen and not seen during the COVID-19 pandemic: The impact of lockdown measures on citizen science bird observations. Biological Conservation 256, 109079. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109079

Blair, G.S. 2021. Digital twins of the natural environment. *Patterns*, **2**(10), 100359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patter.2021.100359</u>

Boakes, E.H., Gliozzo, G., Seymour, V., Harvey, M., Smith, C., Roy, D.B., & Haklay, M. 2016. Patterns of contribution to citizen science biodiversity projects increase understanding of volunteers' recording behaviour. *Scientific Reports*, **6**, 33051. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep33051</u>

British Trust for Ornithology (n.d.) Online tool for EBBA volunteers to check species coverage https://app.bto.org/birdtrack/embedded/ebba2.jsp. Accessed from https://www.bto.org/our-science/projects/european-breeding-bird-atlas-2

Burns, F., Eaton, M.A., Barlow, K.E., Beckmann, B.C., Brereton, T., Brooks, D.R., *et al.* (2016) Agricultural Management and Climatic Change Are the Major Drivers of Biodiversity Change in the UK. *PLoS ONE* **11**(3): e0151595. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151595

Callaghan, C.T., Poore, A.G.B., Major, R.E., Rowley, J.J.L. & Cornwell, W.K. 2019. Optimizing future biodiversity sampling by citizen scientists. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **286**(1912), 20191487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.1487</u>

Callaghan, C.T., Rowley, J.J.L., Cornwell, W.K., Poore, A.G.B., & Major, R.E. (2019). Improving big citizen science data: Moving beyond haphazard sampling. *PLOS Biology*, **17**(6), e3000357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000357</u>

Chang, W., Cheng, J., Allaire, J.J., Sievert, C., Schloerke, B., Xie, Y., Allen, J., McPherson, J., Dipert, A. & Borges, B. (2021). shiny: Web Application Framework for R. R package version 1.7.1. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=shiny</u>

Geldmann, J., Heilmann-Clausen, J., Holm, T.E., Levinsky, I., Markussen, B., Olsen, K., Rahbek, C. & Tøttrup, A.P. (2016). What determines spatial bias in citizen science? Exploring four recording schemes with different proficiency requirements. Diversity and Distributions, 22(11), 1139–1149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12477</u>

Geoghegan, H., Dyke, A., Pateman, R., West, S. & Everett, G. (2016). Understanding motivations for citizen science. Final report on behalf of UKEOF. University of Reading, Stockholm Environment Institute (University of York) and University of the West of England.

Guillera-Arroita, G. (2017). Modelling of species distributions, range dynamics and communities under imperfect detection: Advances, challenges and opportunities. Ecography, 40(2), 281–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.02445</u>

Harrower, M. & Brewer, C.A. (2003). ColorBrewer.org: An Online Tool for Selecting Colour Schemes for Maps. The Cartographic Journal, 40(1), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1179/000870403235002042

Hayhow, D.B., Eaton, M.A., Stanbury, A.J., Burns, F., Kirby, W., Bailey, N., Beckmann, B.C., Bedford, J., Boersch-Supan, P.H., Coomber, F. & Dennis, E.B. (2019). The State of Nature 2019. The State of Nature Partnership.

Isaac, N.J.B., van Strien, A.J., August, T.A., de Zeeuw, M.P. & Roy, D.B. (2014). Statistics for citizen science: Extracting signals of change from noisy ecological data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 5(10), 1052–1060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12254</u>

Kang, S.Y., McGree, J. M., Drovandi, C. C., Caley, M. J., & Mengersen, K. L. (2016). Bayesian adaptive design: Improving the effectiveness of monitoring of the Great Barrier Reef. Ecological Applications, 26(8), 2637–2648. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1409

Kelling, S., Johnston, A., Bonn, A., Fink, D., Ruiz-Gutierrez, V., Bonney, R., Fernandez, M., Hochachka, W.M., Julliard, R., Kraemer, R. & Guralnick, R. (2019). Using Semistructured Surveys to Improve Citizen Science Data for Monitoring Biodiversity. BioScience, 69(3), 170–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biz010</u>

Lindenmayer, D.B. & Likens, G.E. (2009). Adaptive monitoring: A new paradigm for long-term research and monitoring. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 24(9), 482–486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.03.005</u>

Mackenzie, D.I. & Royle, J.A. (2005). Designing occupancy studies: General advice and allocating survey effort. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42(6), 1105–1114.

Outhwaite, C.L., Chandler, R.E., Powney, G.D., Collen, B., Gregory, R.D. & Isaac, N.J.B. (2018). Prior specification in Bayesian occupancy modelling improves analysis of species occurrence data. *Ecological Indicators*, 93, 333–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.05.010

Outhwaite, C.L., Powney, G.D., August, T.A., *et al.* (2019) Annual estimates of occupancy for bryophytes, lichens and invertebrates in the UK, 1970–2015. *Scientific Data* **6**, 259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-019-0269-1</u>

Outhwaite, C.L., Gregory, R.D., Chandler, R.E., Collen, B. & Isaac, N.J.B. (2020). Complex long-term biodiversity change among invertebrates, bryophytes and lichens. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 4(3), 384–392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1111-z</u>

Northamptonshire Biodiversity Records Centre (2021) Gaps in the Maps. <u>https://northantsbrc.org.uk/sites/default/files/styles/full_image_1500px_wide/public/2021-07/gaps2021_0.png</u>. Accessed via <u>https://northantsbrc.org.uk/</u> Pacifici, K., Reich, B.J., Dorazio, R.M. & Conroy, M.J. (2016). Occupancy estimation for rare species using a spatially-adaptive sampling design. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(3), 285–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12499</u>

Pandey, A.V., Manivannan, A., Nov, O., Satterthwaite, M. & Bertini, E. (2014). The Persuasive Power of Data Visualization. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, 20(12), 2211–2220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TVCG.2014.2346419</u>

Pescott, O.L., Humphrey, T.A., Stroh, P.A. & Walker, K.J. (2019) Temporal changes in distributions and the species atlas: How can British and Irish plant data shoulder the inferential burden? *British & Irish Botany* **1**, 4. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.33928/bib.2019.01.250</u>

Pocock, M.J.O., Logie, M.W., Isaac, N.J.B., Outhwaite, C.L. & August, T. (2019). Rapid assessment of the suitability of multi-species citizen science datasets for occupancy trend analysis [Preprint]. Ecology. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/813626</u>

Pocock, M.J.O., Roy, H.E., Preston, C.D. & Roy, D.B. (2015). The Biological Records Centre: A pioneer of citizen science. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 115(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bij.12548</u>

Pocock, M.J.O., Tweddle, J.C., Savage, J., Robinson, L.D. & Roy, H.E. (2017). The diversity and evolution of ecological and environmental citizen science. *PLOS ONE*, 12(4), e0172579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172579</u>

Powney, G.D. & Isaac, N.J.B. (2015). Beyond maps: A review of the applications of biological records. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 115(3), 532–542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bij.12517</u>

Rallapalli, G., Saunders, D.G., Yoshida, K., Edwards, A., Lugo, C.A., Collin, S., Clavijo, B., Corpas, M., Swarbreck, D., Clark, M., Downie, J.A., Kamoun, S. & MacLean, D. (2015). Lessons from Fraxinus, a crowd-sourced citizen science game in genomics. ELife, 4. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.07460

Roy, H.E., Pocock, M.J.O., Preston, C.D., Roy, D.B., Savage, J., Tweddle, J.C. & Robinson, L.D. (2012) Understanding Citizen Science & Environmental Monitoring. Final Report on behalf of UK-EOF. NERC Centre for Ecology & Hydrology and Natural History Museum.

Thompson, W.L. (Ed.). (2004). Sampling rare or elusive species: Concepts, designs, and techniques for estimating population parameters. Island Press.

West, S., Dyke, A. & Pateman, R. (2021). Variations in the Motivations of Environmental Citizen Scientists. Citizen Science: *Theory and Practice*, 6(1), 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.370</u>

Xue, Y., Davies, I., Fink, D., Wood, C. & Gomes, C.P. (2016). Avicaching: A Two Stage Game for Bias Reduction in Citizen Science. Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Autonomous Agents & Multiagent Systems, 776–785.

Appendix 1

A1.1 Evaluation questions for recorders

Thank you for taking time to give feedback on the Targeting Revisits Map.

We hope that you have enjoyed exploring the Targeting Revisits Map. This is an opportunity to tell us what you think of it and how you think it might affect your recording.

This feedback survey is optional. The results will be used to inform how we can best support biological recorders like you and help to get better data on trends in insects. By filling in this survey you give us permission to use to use the information you provide for evaluation of the Targeting Revisits Map.

- 1. Which Targeting Revisits Map have you used? (*Grasshoppers; craneflies; ground beetles; craneflies*)
- 2. Do you think that the Targeting Revisits Map is valuable for recorders like you?
- 3. Please briefly describe why you think it is, or is not, valuable.
- 4. What is the likelihood that the information in the Targeting Revisits Map will influence your recording of the species in the Map that you have used? (*Not at all likely; Possibly; Probably; Very likely*)
- 5. How much of your recording of these species do you think will be influenced by the information provided by the Targeting Revisits Map? (*None; A little; Some; A lot; I don't know*)
- 6. Given the information presented in the Targeting Revisits Map, how motivated are you to visit and submit records of these species from: (Very motivated to record in these squares; Somewhat motivated to record in these squares; Slightly motivated to record in these squares; The map has no effect on my motivation; Motivated to avoid recording in these squares)
 - a. Targets for revisits? (Bright pink on the map)
 - b. Well recorded squares? (Bright green on the map)
 - c. Unrecorded squares? (Blank on the map)
- 7. How frequently do you submit records of species in the taxonomic group for the Targeting Revisits Map that you used? (*Never; Rarely only in some years;* Occasionally a few records each year; Frequently many records each year)
- 8. How frequently do you submit biodiversity records (e.g. via iRecord or other activities)? (*Never, Rarely a few records per year, Occasionally a few records in most months, Frequently many records in most months*)
- 9. Do you think a tool like the Targeting Revisits Map would have long-term effects on your biological recording? Please briefly describe if so and how.
- 10. Does the information in the Targeting Revisits Map influence your recording or your motivation in other ways? If so, please briefly explain how and why.
- 11. Please state the county (e.g. Oxfordshire or Pembrokeshire) where you do most of your recording.
- 12. Do you have any other comments about this tool or support for biological recorders that are relevant for us at the Biological Records Centre?
- 13. Please give your name. (This is so that we can count the number of individuals who fill in this survey. You can fill in this survey more than once if you chose. We will not associate your name with any of your results during our analysis.)

A1.2 Evaluation questions for recording scheme organisers

We are interested in evaluating the Targeting Revisits Map and would like feedback from you as recording scheme organisers.

This feedback survey is optional. The results will be used to inform how we can best support biological recorders like you and help to get better data on trends in insects.

By filling in your answers you give us permission to use to use the information you provide to evaluate the Targeting Revisits Map. We will acknowledge you in the report and may use anonymised comments within the report.

- 1. Have you actively promoted the Targeting Revisits Map to your recorders? If so, can you briefly describe how, and why you wanted to do so?
- 2. Thinking about the impact on biological recorders:
 - a. Do you think a tool like the Targeting Revisits Map is beneficial for biological recorders of your taxa. If so, how?
 - b. Do you think a tool like the Targeting Revisits Map is detrimental for biological recorders of your taxa. If so, how?
 - c. Do you think that there is variation in the impact across the types of recorder (from beginner to expert)?
- 3. Thinking about the impact on biological recording datasets
 - a. Do you think a tool like the Targeting Revisits Map could be beneficial for your datasets. If so, how?
 - b. Do you think a tool like the Targeting Revisits Map could be detrimental for your datasets. If so, how?
- 4. Have you had feedback from your community of recorders? How have they responded, and do you have specific comments to share?
- 5. Would you like to see continued support for the Targeting Revisits Map? If so, are there changes that you would like to see?
- 6. Do you think that the concept of 'targeting' is valuable for biological recorders?
- 7. Do you have any other comments?